ECONSTOR Make Your Publications Visible.

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Kaufmann, Tanja; Schiller, Katharina; Widdel, Linda

Working Paper Towards successful bottom-up transitions: Conceptualizing transformative capacities of individuals in social innovations

Working Paper Sustainability and Innovation, No. S08/2022

Provided in Cooperation with: Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research ISI

Suggested Citation: Kaufmann, Tanja; Schiller, Katharina; Widdel, Linda (2022) : Towards successful bottom-up transitions: Conceptualizing transformative capacities of individuals in social innovations, Working Paper Sustainability and Innovation, No. S08/2022, Fraunhofer-Institut für System- und Innovationsforschung ISI, Karlsruhe, https://doi.org/10.24406/publica-160

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/261003

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU





Towards successful bottom-up transitions: Conceptualizing transformative capacities of individuals in social innovations

Authors: Tanja Kaufmann, Katharina Schiller, Linda Widdel

No. S08/2022

Imprint

Towards successful bottom-up transitions: Conceptualizing transformative capacities of individuals in social innovations

Authors

Tanja Kaufmann, tanja.kaufmann@isi.fraunhofer.de Katharina Schiller, katharina.schiller@isi.fraunhofer.de Linda Widdel, linda.widdel@isi.fraunhofer.de

Picture credits

Cover page: Shutterstock.com/TechSolution

Recommended citation

Kaufmann, T.; Schiller, K.; Widdel, L. (2022): Towards successful bottom-up transitions: Conceptualizing transformative capacities of individuals in social innovations (Working Papers Sustainability and Innovation No. S08/2022). Karlsruhe: Fraunhofer ISI.

Published

June 2022

Contact

Fraunhofer Institute for Systems und Innovation Research ISI

Breslauer Strasse 48, 76139 Karlsruhe, Germany Tanja Kaufmann, tanja.kaufmann@isi.fraunhofer.de

Notes

This report in its entirety is protected by copyright. The information contained was compiled to the best of the authors' knowledge and belief in accordance with the principles of good scientific practice. The authors believe that the information in this report is correct, complete and current, but accept no liability for any errors, explicit or implicit. The statements in this document do not necessarily reflect the client's opinion.

Acknowledgements

This research for this paper was funded by the in-house project SYSTRA at Fraunhofer ISI.

Abstract

In socio-technical transitions research, capacities relevant for transformations have primarily been assessed at systemic or niche levels, with capacities of individual actors to engage in transformative activities not yet well-conceptualized. This paper draws on theories of power in transitions, transformative social innovation and social practice theory to develop a conceptual framework for transformative capacities at the level of the individual citizen. We argue that in order to change social practices and foster successful bottom-up transitions, different forms of capacities – with regards to the elements of a social practice (meanings, competences and materials/resources) – are required.

As a next step, the framework developed based on different literatures from transitions research and sociology will be tested empirically in an online-survey targeted at individuals engaged in social innovation. The objective is to better understand social processes of change and the conditions for them, in order to support the development of participatory governance models.

Contents

1	Introduction	5
1	The need for capacities for transitions from below	8
1.1	Citizens and social innovations in transitions	8
1.2	Social innovation as the power to create and change practices	9
1.3	The relevance of individual capacities for transition governance	10
1.4	Definition of transformative capacities for social innovation	11
2	Conceptualization of transformative capacities of individuals	12
2.1	The theory of social practices	12
2.2	Draft framework for transformative capacities of individuals	13
2.3	Meaning	14
2.3.1	Roles	14
2.3.2	Motivations, values and awareness over societal challenges	15
2.4	Competencies	15
2.4.1	Learning competencies	15
2.4.2	Transferable skills and soft skills	17
2.4.3	Absorptive capacities	18
2.5	Materials and resources	18
2.5.1	Knowledge resources and infrastructures	19
2.5.2	Social capital and networks as resources	19
2.5.3	Material and technological infrastructures	19
2.5.4	Financial and time resources	20
2.6	Conditions, drivers and barriers for transformative capacities	20
3	Conclusions and outlook	22
4	Publication bibliography	23

1 Introduction

In the current academic discussion on how to address society's 'grand challenges' (e.g. the climate and ecological crises), a growing number of scholars argue that social innovations may exceed technological innovations in their ability to initiate fundamental change processes in socio-technical systems (Howaldt and Kopp 2012; Avelino et al. 2019). Urgently needed societal transformations towards more sustainable ways of living require the active participation of citizens in transition processes, e.g. by creating new social practices and engaging in social innovation initiatives. Calls for reflexive and adaptive governance, for instance through transition management, have highlighted the need to include civil society in the governance of transitions (Frantzeskaki et al. 2012; Loorbach et al. 2017; Chilvers et al. 2018). In order to support and foster transitions driven by individuals and bottom-up actors, such as civil society and grassroots movements, transitions research needs to gain a better understanding of the complex social mechanisms and capacities underlying transformative social practices.

One of the central frameworks of socio-technical sustainability transitions research is the Multi-Level Perspective (MLP). As Figure 1 illustrates, the MLP theorizes change as coming from the alignments of trajectories and on-going processes between the three analytical levels (niche, regime, landscape). Innovations emerge in niches, which strive to change the regime – the established rules and institutions that define 'the normal way of doing things'. The landscape refers to influences from broader contexts and outside of the daily reach of most actors, e.g. climatic and biophysical conditions, international agreements and trade, or war. In terms of the MLP, our focus of analysis is on the micro-level of individuals inside the niche.



Figure 1: Situating our research in terms of the MLP

Social innovations usually emerge from bottom-up actors (e.g. citizens, social movements, social entrepreneurs, local communities, cooperatives), and can be regarded as intentional new configurations of social practices to solve societal problems (Howaldt and Schwarz 2010). Creating social

innovations involves new skills beyond the entrepreneurial basics; a key issue in the research on transformative social change is gaining a better understanding of the transformative capacities of individuals for the creation and transfer of social innovations to other individuals in the process of generalization. As a theoretical approach the concept of power in transitions becomes relevant, because the required transformative capacities for social innovations and the engagement in sustainability transitions closely relate to the kind of power bottom-up actors have and need (Avelino et al. 2017; Pel et al. 2020). Therefore, actors can influence and engage in transformational processes depending on their position of power. When it comes to governance of transitions, emphasis should be put on actors' power and capacities rather than solely their inclusion in the process.

The relationship between agency (defined as the capacity of an actor to act (Giddens and Sutton 2014)) and structure in the MLP has long been a point of debate. The MLP has been criticized for being too structural, based on deterministic mechanisms, and neglecting the complexity of emergent social processes on the ground (Smith et al. 2005; Howaldt and Schwarz 2017). Addressing these criticisms and framing the dichotomy between agency and structure in terms of the MLP, Geels (Geels 2020, p. 4) argues that because the MLP conceptualizes technologies as socially constructed, "the emergence of a technological trajectory can [...] be conceptualized as a socio-cognitive process". Individuals' agency is situated in and shaped by structural contexts, and which in turn are shaped and conditioned by actors' actions (Geels 2020). Individuals' agency - specifically, their ability to change social practices and enact innovative and transformative power in transition processes - is essential for enabling transitions 'from below', where citizens play an active role, have ownership and can engage in social innovations. Such transformative capacities of individuals have not yet been well conceptualized in the transitions literature, which has focused on capacities at higher organizational levels such as for network, cities, firms and governance institutions (Borrás 2011; Wolfram 2016; Castán Broto et al. 2019; Strasser et al. 2019; Wolfram et al. 2019; Strasser et al. 2020; Yasmin et al. 2020). An exception is research on individuals' learning processes and reflexivity in systemic innovations and transitions processes (Moore et al. 2018; Goyal and Howlett 2020; van Mierlo and Beers 2020; van Poeck et al. 2020) and the role of leadership (Martiskainen 2017).

With this paper, we address the research gap regarding transformative capacities of individual citizens as bottom-up-actors in transition processes. Specifically, we focus on individuals' capacities to engage in changing social practices, in civil society organizations, initiatives of social innovation and or other movements with transformative objectives. Hence, this paper's main research question is: What capacities and capabilities do citizens need for the generation and uptake of transformative social innovations?

This paper contributes to the micro-foundation of transitions research by theoretically assessing the required forms of capacities for social innovation. It moreover builds the basis to empirically validate the theoretically derived framework. Thereby, we aim to bridge the gap between the transitions and sociology literature. To create the framework, we took an iterative approach between the literature and empirical data. First, we reviewed the literature from sociology, transition studies and resilience research with regards to individual capacities needed for generating social innovations. On this basis, we conceptualized a framework for individual transformative capacities. In the next phase of our study, we are testing this framework in an empirical case study on social innovation actors in the food system, where we ask if and to what extent the capacities we identified from the literature are present or required and if other types of relevant capacities can be identified. Thus, the current state of the paper reflects the theoretical framework and shows the work-in-progress. The paper continues with the theoretical basis on which we constructed the framework. We draw on work on power in transitions (Avelino and Rotmans 2009; Avelino 2017), transformative social innovation (Haxeltine et al. 2017; Avelino et al. 2019; Pel et al. 2020), social practice theory (Reckwitz 2002; Shove et al. 2012) and sociological concepts of social innovation (Howaldt and Schwarz 2010). Section 3 presents our framework for transformative capacities of individuals and details the individual elements of the framework. The paper finishes with reflections on the conceptual framework and next steps concerning its empirical implementation.

2 The need for capacities for transitions from below

In order to find solutions to systemic challenges, the collective intelligence of every-day-transitions actors needs to be harnessed to develop new participatory transformative governance approaches. As Van Pöck and Ostman put it, "after all, even major transitions are always made [...] in action, in people's day-to-day practices" (2021, p. 156). In the following, we will explain why we choose the analytical level of the individual citizen to explore transformative capacities for social innovations.

2.1 Citizens and social innovations in transitions

It is increasingly acknowledged that a diversity of actors, especially from the "third sector" of civil society, play an important role in sustainability transitions (Avelino and Wittmayer 2016; Fischer and Newig 2016). Moreover, it is stressed that social equity and social cohesion in these large transformational processes have to be balanced by collective decision-making and the inclusion of different interests (Frantzeskaki et al. 2012).

Civil society consists of a mix of complex, heterogeneous actors that influence social change outside of the family, market or government spheres. It includes social movements, NGOs, unions, business associations, and civil associations as well as third sector associations (e.g. co-operatives, mutual societies, professional associations and voluntary community groups) (Howaldt et al. 2014; Haxeltine et al. 2017). Hence, civil society actors usually do not represent one homogeneous view, but have contested views of potential pathways of sustainability transitions and therefore can act as a source of reflexivity for governance. These dynamics can contribute to new forms of bottom-upgovernance (Smith 2012).

Civil society actors are becoming more and more important in the governance of sustainability transitions and they often bring about their own way of implementing transition ideas and processes, for example in so-called grassroots innovations (Seyfang and Smith 2007). This kind of innovation is often developed by consumers at personal expense, during their free time, and within their networks (e.g. family, neighborhoods and civil society). It is not protected by its developers and can be used or implemented by anyone without payment (Hippel 2016).

In the transitions and innovation research community, social innovations are recognized as important drivers for sustainability transitions, even if the conditions under which they can lead to fundamental change are still understudied (Howaldt and Schwarz 2017; Geels 2020). New practices and ways of living, un-invited participation, protests and social movements can influence the creation of new niches and show that the core of transitions can be non-technological. The importance of understanding practices and the every-day side of transitions is explained by Van Pöck and Ostman (2021, p. 157), who argue that as unsustainable patterns "increasingly emerge as a crisis that disturbs our habitual ways of thinking and acting, we are faced with the challenge of finding new ways of inhabiting the world – new regimes".

Our perspective on the individual level in transitions is also inspired by the capabilities approach as discussed in the context of a new research agenda for social innovation by Ziegler (Ziegler 2021). In the capability approach as shaped by Sen (1999) and Nussbaum (2000), human development is viewed from the perspective of the opportunities and freedoms people have (Sen 1999; Nussbaum 2000). In Ziegler's view, this can enable research on social innovations to think about these from the "perspective of its beneficiaries" (Ziegler 2021: 117). Individual humans as participants of development – such as in a transition process – have different opportunities and very different conditions and capabilities. The concept of capability is defined as "the freedom of a person to enjoy various functionings that they value and have reason to value" (Ziegler 2021: 119). Continuing with this

notion, this means that different people have different "conversion functions", that is to say the ability to transform a resource into a functioning. Existing social innovation research on the intersection with the capability approach often tries to find out how social innovations can have impacts on the beneficiaries' or users' capabilities. For example, the social innovation study following the capability approach of Von Jacobi et al. (2019) shows that social innovations can make a contribution to the capabilities of their participants or users, particularly through enhancing technical knowhow and the ability to share and network with like-minded people (Jacobi et al. 2019). In this way, the capabilities approach can help to improve evaluations of social innovations. As Mahah (2016) argues, a list of central capabilities (biological, personal and social) would allow dialogue with beneficiaries in social innovation processes, especially marginalized or excluded groups. However, the capabilities and resources necessary to engage in social innovations are still under-researched.

2.2 Social innovation as the power to create and change practices

Avelino's theory on power in transitions (Avelino and Rotmans 2009; Avelino 2017) is a fundamental theoretical background for this framework of transformative capacities of individuals. It highlights the different power dynamics between actors that are inherent in intended and unintended transition processes (Avelino and Rotmans 2009; Avelino 2017). According to the framework, actors need power to create and change practices for transformative social innovations.

Avelino and Rotmans (2009, p. 556) define power as "the ability to mobilize resources". Hence, the conditions for exercising power depend on access to resources; strategies or methods to mobilize resources; skills to apply these specific methods and the willingness to do so (Avelino and Rotmans 2009). Knowledge is a condition to exercise power. Avelino et al. (2017) state that multiple different forms of powers are important for social innovations or the creation of niches in transitions. In this view, "regimes do not necessarily have power over niches" (Avelino and Rotmans 2009, p. 559), because niches are able to mobilize different forms of power (that is to say resources).

Following Foucault, Avelino (2017, p. 508) assumes that power is always exercised and not possessed and that the power to change a social practice or the power to create something new is qualitatively different from the "power to reproduce". In arguing so, she proposes a distinction between reinforcive, innovative and transformative power (Avelino 2017). Reinforcive power is the power to reinforce and reproduce existing structures, which is exercised from the level of the regime (e.g. political institutions, executive). In contrast, innovative power is the capacity of actors to create new resources, which can "make actors less dependent on existing resources (e.g. fossil fuels)" (Avelino 2017, p. 509), and so they can become less dependent on the existing regime of the system. However, a new resource is powerless if not visible to multiple actors, which means it has to be used or enacted by groups of actors or networks in multiple alternative niches.

When actors not only develop new resources, but also new structures and institutions that significantly challenge, alter and or replace existing institutions by recombining, transposing and reinventing specific elements, they can develop transformative power concerning interactions between niche and regime (Avelino 2017; Haxeltine et al. 2017). Avelino (2017) argues that the renewal of structures is an inherently different capacity in comparison to the power from reinforcing structures. However, it is possible that all forms of powers have to work together for a transformation of societal structures/institutions in the long-term, because for instance reinforcing power may be needed for stabilizing new structures and institutions.

The landscape includes not only exogenous elements (e.g. natural catastrophes) but also trends endogenous to human intervention. These endogenous macro-trends can be split up in dominant macro-trends and counter-macro-trends, whereas the first refers in terms of power to the collection of regimes across societal systems and the second refers to the collection of interactions between

niches and regimes across systems, i.e. transformative powers exercised e.g. by social movements (Avelino 2017). Smith argues that some niche elements are transferred to the mainstream, while other, more radical components of the niches continued to be advocated for and are experimented with by certain radical actors (Smith 2012). In terms of power, a distinction between more radical and less radical or moderate niches can be made, in order to explain that radical elements challenge the dominant macro-trends (e.g. capitalism) and support countertrends (e.g. collectivism). Radical niches are defined by Avelino (2017, p. 511) as the "exercise of innovative power that challenges dominant macro-trends and strengthens counter-macro-trends". Moderate niches instead rather reproduce dominant macro-trends.

2.3 The relevance of individual capacities for transition governance

Depending on how a social innovation is enacted, imitated and diffused in wider systems and beyond niches (thus exercising transformative power), it can take on different transition pathways. The different transition pathways of Geels and Schot (2007) depend not only on the timing and strength of coordination but also on the availability from internal and external resources (Geels and Schot 2007). Among these resources figure factor endowments, knowledge and capabilities. We argue that by looking at what individuals can do and contribute towards the transformative change of current systems, and by unpacking the individual capacities needed for this transformative work, marginalized perspectives and actors with less power in the system can be empowered. By opening the door towards a participatory governance approach where collective intelligence is the source of steering a socio-technical system, we need to study how individuals can be transformative agents and bring their knowledge together in social innovation collectives.

Frantzeskaki et al. (2012) criticize the transition management approach as partly elitist and exclusive, because only *frontrunners* of innovation can participate in the transition arenas and in co-constructing pathways for sustainability. In the past decade, the inclusion of new actors such as civil society in transition governance processes has been improved, as this can be a source of reflexivity for governance by offering new paradigms to societies stuck in old ways (McCright 2016). Such new suggestions can aid socio-technical transitions in breaking out of their locked-in trajectories (Smith 2012). Civil society actors can also act as advocates for the development and diffusion of niches, spanning the niche-regime boundaries. Chilvers et al. (2018) observe a change of participatory forms as outcome of processes of technologization or standardization and identify three types of interrelations between participatory collectives: assistance, resistance and transformation. In this view, participation is a constitutive force of socio-technical system change. Chilvers et al. (2018) assume that there is a need to develop systems of governance that can respond and include the diverse, emerging and ongoing forms of participation.

To enable such forms of participatory transition governance, investments in individual and organizational capacities are needed to mobilize resources and knowledge for transitions (Yasmin et al. 2020). The capacities of society must be nurtured by interaction, participation and collective decision-making. Critical attributes are features such as bottom-up-learning, experimentation and selforganization (Yasmin et al. 2020). Coming from the perspective of an individual citizen, with an onthe-ground perspective of individual and practical transition activities, we can overcome limited thinking of top-down governance approaches that build up a dichotomy between one set of actors that is governed by another (Shove and Walker 2010). Instead, transformative governance should ask what interested individuals could do and contribute to collectively find solutions.

2.4 Definition of transformative capacities for social innovation

Although social innovations have been analyzed concerning their transformative potential, there is a lack of theory-building concerning dynamic interactions and social innovations in the context of broader innovation processes and transformative change (Haxeltine et al. 2017). Transformative social innovations are described by Haxeltine et al. (2017, p. 3) as "the process of challenging, altering, or replacing the dominance of existing institutions in a specific social and material context". However, this definition assumes that we have information concerning whether or not existing institutions were changed by a social innovation. But when institutions are understood as established and dominant social practices, this definition is quite near to the practice theory-oriented approach on social innovation (Howaldt and Schwarz 2010). The main difference for us is that Howaldt and Schwarz provide a non-normative definition of social innovation. They define a social innovation as a new configuration or combination of social practices triggered intentionally by certain actors or actor groups, with the objective of solving problems and addressing needs in a way that was not possible based on prior established practices (Howaldt and Schwarz 2010, p. 54). propose a similar definition of social innovation, but with the distinction that we try to describe transformative social innovations - i.e., social innovations in the context of bottom-up-sustainability transitions. We define transformative social innovations as new configurations of social practices initiated and enacted by (groups) of citizens, with the objective to change existing regimes of practices (and institutions) that underlie the societal problems addressed by the new solution.

Following Howaldt and Schwarz 2010, we take a non-normative approach concerning evidence for transformative elements of social innovation by placing actors' motivations to change social practices at the center of our considerations (as opposed to searching for a real-world transformative impact of a social innovation, which may sometimes become evident only in the long term – see (Mihci 2020)). The relational, emergent and embedded character of transformative social innovation is inherent, because distributive agency is central for social innovations to emerge (Kaletka et al. 2016; Pel et al. 2020). Analyses of niches of social innovation have shown the emergent character of social innovations, because they are constructed through social relationships and can change their (perceived) character and external dynamics over time (Pel and Kemp 2020). As with assessments of technological innovations, social innovations may have unintended consequences and dark sides (Fougère and Merilainen 2021). Further, it is important to have in mind the ambiguous character of social innovations, which can transform but also reproduce the status quo (Avelino et al. 2019; Strasser et al. 2019).

In the literature, the term transformative capacity is most often referred to in terms of organizational change or regarding capacities of the state (Borrás 2011; Wolfram 2016; Castán Broto et al. 2019). Capacities have been widely theorized in the literature on resilience, particularly adaptive capacities. This term is used as an umbrella concept to describe generic capabilities that strengthen resilience (meaning the ability to live with change and uncertainty); nurture diversity and socio-ecological memory for reorganization; combine different types of knowledge for learning and create opportunities for self-organization and flexible problem solving (Folke et al. 2010). However, the concept of adaptive capacities is insufficient because these only help to adapt to existing problems, without addressing the root causes. This is why transformative capacities are inherently different – because they aim to "create fundamentally new systems" (Walker et al. 2004, p. 4). It is thus very important to distinguish between capacities allowing for adaptation and those allowing for transformation. Therefore, we define transformative capacities as the individual motivations, abilities, competencies and resources present and needed for engaging in transformative SI by creating or changing social practices and contributing to their spread beyond the own social group.

3 Conceptualization of transformative capacities of individuals

Research on socio-technical transitions towards sustainability has focused very much on questions of supply (e.g. of new technologies or resources) and has paid less attention to patterns of demand. However, the "socio" in its central term "socio-technical" as put by Shove and Walker (2010) "does refer to forms of practical know-how and to routines and expectations that sustain and are part of incumbent regimes" (Shove and Walker 2010, p. 471). This is why we want to enlarge that perspective and adopt a theoretical approach of social practices, where social innovation for transitions are seen as new combinations or configurations of social practices with the objective to address societal challenges or social needs (see Howaldt and Schwarz 2010). Social practices theory is the fundament on which we build our framework of transformative capacities for social innovation actors (see section 2.2). In the following, we first outline the theory of social practices, before we introduce our framework of transformative social capacities.

3.1 The theory of social practices

Social practice theory, which evolved from cultural theories and was shaped by authors such as Bourdieu, Giddens, Taylor, Foucault and others, is oriented towards everyday realities (Reckwitz 2002). Reckwitz defines a practice as follows:

"A 'practice' (Praktik) is a routinized type of behaviour which consists of several elements, interconnected to one other: forms of bodily activities, forms of metal activities, 'things' and their use, a background knowledge in the form of understanding, knowhow, states of emotion and motivational knowledge. A practice – a way of cooking, of consuming [...] forms so to speak a 'block' whose existence necessarily depends on the existence and specific interconnectedness of these elements, and which cannot be reduced to any one of these single elements." (Reckwitz 2002, p. 249f)

In practice-theoretical oriented research on social innovations, it is assumed that these emerge and diffuse in practice fields (Radadjieva and Butzin 2020) In this broad theoretical approach, social innovations are seen as newly emerging social practices (Howaldt and Schwarz 2010). If practices can diffuse at a certain location is strongly dependent upon the needs of the actors and their capacities to receive, connect, imitate or adapt elements of a practice (Radadjieva and Butzin 2020).

According to Shove et al. (2012), a social practice is constituted of three elements: meaning, competences and materials. The diverse elements of social practices circuit within and between many different practices – creating a "connective tissue that holds complex social arrangements in place and potentially pulls them apart" (Shove et al. 2012, p. 36).

The relationships between co-existing and similar practices can be described as practice fields. The potential of practices to spread and develop partly depends on the available elements for making new links between practices, or breaking them (Shove et al. 2012). However, the elements themselves also change during the course of the integration into a new practice. Shove et al. (2012) describe the fundamental emergent character of social practices as a "process of formation, reformation and de-formation" (p. 44). Compared to social practices, the single elements are more stable and can travel over time and space under certain circumstances. The emergence of a practice is thus influenced by the distribution of requisite competences, the access to necessary materials and the prevalence of certain meanings.

After presenting our framework of transformative capacities, based on this theoretical approach, we will give more detail about what capacities are relevant for the three elements of meanings, competences and materials.

3.2 Draft framework for transformative capacities of individuals

For conceptualizing and ordering different capacities needed for social innovative actions in the context of bottom-up transitions, we use the three elements of a social practice as defined by Shove et al. (2012). We understand a social innovation as a transformation of the different elements of a social practice. For every element of the practice, different capabilities, competencies and resources are relevant. For the development of new social practices with transformative impact, certain capacities belonging to the three elements of a practice are needed. These capacities then allow for the development of innovative and transformative power as described by Avelino (2017). When the capacities are the right ones to develop innovative power, new resources and competences – but also meanings – can be created, therefore fostering the transformative capacity of social innovation actors. For example, a social innovation initiative (e.g. a community agriculture project) finds access to material infrastructures, rooms and land by integrating new members. To put it simply, there is a bidirectional relationship between social innovation and individual capacities (Howaldt and Kopp 2012; Kirwan et al. 2013).

Figure 1 shows our draft framework for transformative capacities of individuals engaged in SI. The three building blocks of meaning, competences and materials (or resources) are taken from social practice theory of Shove et al. (2012). They structure the capacities identified in the literature review. These capacities are embedded in the environment of framework conditions, which include drivers and barriers. Together these different capacities can lead to the creation of novel social practices, and when developed further a social innovation can be the outcome. Depending on whether this social innovation can generate innovative or transformative powers (e.g. by diffusing in wider contexts), it can influence the framework conditions and also the transformative capacities themselves.

Figure 2: Framework for transformative capacities of individual actors (overall framework inspired by Shove et al. 2012 and Avelino et al. 2019, subcategories based on literature cited below)



It is highly probable that other forms of capacities are needed for innovations beyond the mainstream or the regime, as there are no established ways of doing or organizing or financing and there is a higher level of uncertainty as to whether or not a certain new practice will be successfully adopted by others. Also, there is often another kind of inherent motivation, as there is no direct economic compensation for innovating on the horizon. We assume that for transformative capacities to be developed, it is very important to establish interaction and relationships between actors, with network-building and trust creation as key resources for cooperation. Westley et al. 2014 suggest that social innovators require different skills to move from scaling out their social innovation (i.e. engaging more people over a larger geographic area) to scaling up (achieving social and institutional change of the system itself) (Westley et al. 2014). Different kinds of capacities may be needed at different points in time during the development of a social innovation.

In the next sections, we will outline what kinds of capacities belong to the three elements along the guiding questions of: Why do we do something, how do we do it and through what means? In doing this, we are not claiming to give an extensive and all-comprehensive list of capacities needed for transformative social innovation – rather to give a first sketch on the basis of the reviewed literature, which will later be tested and enlarged by the empirical study.

3.3 Meaning

Meaning, describes the "social and symbolic significance of participation at any one moment" (Shove et al. 2012, p. 23) Meaning orients a practice. This element includes symbolic meanings, ideas and aspirations. Shove et al. (2012) state that meanings cannot travel in the same way as competences can. However they move and spread between practices through association and classification (Shove et al. 2012). For Shove et al. (2012), meaning constitutes the third element of social practice, besides competences and materials. For instance, the practice of driving a bicycle, which involves the bike as a physical object (materials) and knowing how to cycle (competences), also consists of the values and ideas which we connect to it, e.g. biking as a means of transportation, biking as an exercising activity or biking as an act of environmentalism. Changing social practices to wards sustainability is also linked to altering the meaning, values or discourses that are attributed to them (Shove et al. 2012).

Meaning-making is, of course, crucial in gaining awareness of different societal challenges, in creating a vision of a better future or in motivating oneself to become part of a transformative movement. We also believe, however, that the ideational sphere is inherently tied to the social construction of different actor roles and that, in turn, each actor role is connected to different capacities. The following two subsections look at how individual capacities to create transformative social innovations are linked to actor roles, motivations and visions as well as awareness of social challenges.

3.3.1 Roles

In the Multi-Actor Perspective, Avelino and Wittmayer (2016) acknowledge the complex diversity of actor roles in transition dynamics. Individual actors perform different roles within different sectors (e.g. the state, civil society, market or private sector) following different sector logics. A policy-maker can simultaneously be a consumer, a parent, an environmental activist and/or run their own business (Avelino and Wittmayer 2016). According to Collier and Callero (2005, p. 47) these actor roles are "social constructions that are widely recognized as legitimate and normal features of the social world" (Collier and Callero 2005). Hence, the meaning individuals attribute to social practices is never fixed but also tied to and shaped by the different roles actors take. At the same time, actors' capacities to shape transformative social innovations are deeply connected to the specific role(s) performed by that actor. And given to this actor? An individual actor in the role of the policymaker has different access to materials or knowledge infrastructure in comparison to a fulltime stay-athome-dad who wants to develop a consumer cooperative.

3.3.2 Motivations, values and awareness over societal challenges

Why an individual chooses to perform a certain practice in a specific way is closely related to their personal motivations. Often, a motivation and starting point for citizens to engage in social innovation initiatives is the perception of socio-ecological problems (Kropp 2018), i.e. the development of a certain level of awareness concerning societal challenges. Social innovations are therefore shaped by actors' framings of societal problems (Haxeltine et al. 2017). An empirical study on urban food movements showed that many individuals in movements see "change of consciousness as [the] starting point for any structural transformation" (Kropp 2018, p. 417). Awareness-building is also closely related to learning processes and thus to the competences of actors involved in social innovations (Kropp 2018). Processes and dynamics of empowerment and disempowerment come into play concerning actors' motivations, with empowerment giving actors an intrinsic motivation to act and disempowerment leading to loss of the feeling that one is able to achieve something (Avelino et al. 2019). Personal objectives related to one's engagement are also important: for example, in the case of urban food movements, actors' goals may be to transform a lifestyle perceived as unsustainable or rather to protect the environment (Kropp 2018). Beyond motivations, actors' engagement also depends on the strategies available to them and their willingness to apply these (Avelino and Rotmans 2009). Additionally, it is important to note that actors are not always conscious of the motivations they act upon (Giddens 1984).

Individual's motivations also relate to the values they espouse. Values reflect individuals' dominant attitudes that drive their behavior and worldview (Balunde et al. 2020). Values are a key for meaning and motivation to create or enact a new social practice: e.g., volunteers in urban food movements stress their objectives to reach more fairness, solidarity and transparency (Kropp 2018). The choice to relate to others (with similar values) and engage in collectives depends on actors' values as well: when people discover common values, they can build trust and act together for the creation of new social practices. Connected to the dimension of values, the building of shared identities and shared alternative narratives of change and resistance are also important transformative capacities for social innovation actors (Pel et al. 2020; Pel and Kemp 2020).

3.4 Competencies

The element of "competence" constitutes a mix of multiple forms of understanding, specific knowhow and background knowledge (Shove et al. 2012). Competencies differ between local knowledge for performing specific practices, and so-called cosmopolitan knowledge, which is constituted of global-level cognitive constructs, has been disembedded from its local context and can travel widely between local practices (Disco and van der Meulen 1998; Geels and Deuten 2006). For social practices to be changed, the element of competence has to travel and become part of new social practices or social innovations. To enable the traveling of knowledge and competences between local and global contexts, capacities that accumulate and transform knowledge, such as de- and recontextualization, are necessary (Geels and Deuten 2006).

3.4.1 Learning competencies

Learning is a key capacity for social innovation (Rossi 2017; Pel and Kemp 2020) and sustainability transitions, where it is seen as a prerequisite for system change and the development of alternative innovations and pathways (van Mierlo et al. 2020; van Poeck and Östman 2021). As Figure 3 illustrates, a plethora of learning processes and competences are of central importance to turn local, contextualized, specific knowledge into robust, mobile, generic, global knowledge ('cosmopolitan') that can travel between local practices (Geels and Deuten 2006).

Figure 3: Capacities and learning processes to translate between local practices and external knowledge (based on Geels and Deuten 2006; Gebauer et al. 2012; Shove et al. 2012; van Mierlo and Beers 2020)

Often, the differences between processes and outcomes of learning are not disentangled – but we need to distinguish between learning processes themselves, and the changes in groups and societies that result from them (van Poeck and Östman 2021). Concerning learning processes, the aggregation of knowledge is necessary to transform it from a 'local' state, in which new artefacts and knowledge emerge in a specific context, to a 'global' one, in which it can be made to work in other practices and places (Geels and Deuten 2006). For local knowledge to be able to be applied to other practices and in other contexts, it needs to be transformed into robust, general knowledge that has been abstracted from its original context and packaged to be widely understandable and applicable (Geels and Deuten 2006). This happens through processes of accumulation and transformation of local experiences into generic, translocal findings (Geels and Deuten 2006). Regarding outcomes, aims of learning may concern practical learning outcomes (e.g. about a certain technology or practice), conceptual learning outcomes (e.g. new knowledge or visions) or relational learning outcomes (e.g. new network-connections) (van Poeck et al. 2020).

Collaborative and social learning are key competences for actors in transition processes (van Mierlo and Beers 2020), particularly those involving transformative social innovations. Collaborative learning goes beyond the mere sharing and co-creation of practical knowledge and can be conceived as a negotiation of meanings and sense-making, as discussed in section 3.3 (van Mierlo and Beers 2020). It takes into account how social and cultural interactions shape learning processes, with communication within groups seen as crucial for learning (van Mierlo and Beers 2020). Social learning emphasizes the importance of integrating knowledge from multiple perspectives and sees actor diversity as an important resource for managing complex issues (Ison and Watson 2007). During social learning processes, heterogeneous actors share knowledge in an interactive process to produce new learning and trust, which in turn form the basis for joint actions (Pahl-Wostl 2006). Linking to the discussion of transition governance in section 2.4, stakeholder diversity can be seen as an input into social learning processes, with the development of novel solutions to complex societal problems being the output (Beers et al. 2016).

Other central competences are second-order learning and reflexivity. While first order learning (or single loop learning) is based on observing reality and assessing the results, second order learning (or double loop learning) is when one's own interpretations, underlying assumptions, convictions etc. are called into question (van Mierlo and Beers 2020; van Poeck and Östman 2021). Second order learning is a strongly reflective process and occurs but infrequently, while first order learning happens on a daily basis (van Mierlo and Beers 2020). The ability to enhance the reflexivity of a system or practice is linked to second order learning and social learning (Beers and van Mierlo 2017). Both reflexivity and social learning are key capacities to initiate change (Beers and van Mierlo 2017). Hence, regarding transformative capacities, second order learning and reflexivity are fundamental to call into question established practices and ways of thinking and foment change (Beers and van Mierlo 2017; Moore et al. 2018; van Mierlo and Beers 2020).

Further important transformative capacities with regards to learning are experimentation and selforganization (Yasmin et al. 2020). This is also reflected in the literature on protective niches, grassroots and sustainability experiments, which focus on developing innovative capacities in protected, experimental spaces (Smith and Raven 2012).

3.4.2 Transferable skills and soft skills

Transferable skills are helpful to exercise power through applying certain strategies or methods across different practices (Avelino and Rotmans 2009). Following social practice theory, the concept of transferable skills means that specific competencies are common or common enough to a number of different practices so that they can be used and adapted in different situations (Shove et al. 2012). They may be hard skills, gained through education or training, or soft skills, gained from experiences one has made in the past and learned on a more implicit, practical basis. Hard skills gained through education, language and computer skills, public speaking, writing, rhetoric, argumentation, rationalization, improvising, creativity, acting, informal conversation, and so on" (Avelino and Rotmans 2009, p. 557).

Several specific soft skills are especially relevant to develop and transfer new social practices. For example, the ability to mobilize resources (discussed in section 3.5) is a fundamental soft skill for social innovation. An important unknown here is how exactly resources are mobilized and used by actors of civil society in order to innovate (Howaldt et al. 2014). In the theory of power in transitions, the ability to mobilize resources is defined as a power actors have. However, to exercise this power, actors need not just access to resources but awareness on where those resources exist; strategies, methods and skills to mobilize them; and the willingness to do so (Avelino and Rotmans 2009). When actors are able to develop innovative power, they can not just access but create new resources and so make themselves less dependent on established practices and the regime (Avelino 2017).

Among the most important capacities for bottom-up transitions is the ability to create and maintain social relationships and networks – i.e., social capital (Rossi 2017; Pel and Kemp 2020). Certainly, cooperative ability is required to work together with others in collectives, associations, initiatives or movements and larger networks. Martiskainen (2017) stresses the role of community leadership, based on voluntary actions and the creation of social capital, for social innovations. She highlights that within grassroots innovations, soft skills and tacit knowledge, e.g. about working with groups, facilitating meetings, enabling groups to make decisions or to operate effectively as a team are pivotal (Martiskainen 2017). Leadership, defined by Avelino and Rotmans (2009, p. 558) as "the

capacity to influence and convince other actors" is important in order to gather more actors willing to strive for a specific, shared goal.

Rediscovering and readapting old knowledge and practices is another capacity mentioned for transformative social innovation (Pel and Kemp 2020). For transformative competencies in social innovation initiatives to be increased it can be helpful to create experimental learning spaces, where also forgotten practices of the community can be (re)learned (Kropp 2018) or established practices "unlearned".

3.4.3 Absorptive capacities

Absorptive capacities refer to the specific tools with which actors can explore, assimilate, transform and exploit external ('cosmopolitan') knowledge for local contexts (Gebauer et al. 2012; Howaldt and Schwarz 2017). Building on Geels and Deuten (2006), absorptive capacities hence play important roles in the translation of generalized to local knowledge and are central to the disaggregation of codified cosmopolitan knowledge for use in local practices and contexts (see Figure 3). Absorptive capacities are cumulative and depend on past experiences, hence they are not static, but rather evolve through learning processes (Gebauer et al. 2012). Actors acquire external knowledge through exploratory learning, i.e. using the resources at their disposal to push beyond their quotidian information bubble, and apply it through exploitative learning processes (Gebauer et al. 2012). Transformative and assimilative learning processes mediate between the acquisition of new knowledge and its exploitation. Through transformative learning processes – combining existing knowledge with newly generated knowledge – external knowledge is adapted to local contexts and practices (Gebauer et al. 2012). New knowledge is integrated into existing information and practices through assimilative learning processes (Gebauer et al. 2012).

Decontextualization, the packaging of knowledge, recontextualization and standardization are important abilities for the absorption and diffusion of social innovations, particularly concerning the transfer of practice elements (e.g. specific knowledge or know-how, also defined as procedural knowledge). When a practice prototype exists in a certain place, its local knowledge has to be decontextualized and codified in order to be transferrable to other communities of practice. To be applicable in other communities of practice, this knowledge then must be decodified and recontextualized for a new context and as a basis for a new social practice. However, the know-how necessary to decode packages of cosmopolitan knowledge strongly depends on the prior experiences of an individual or community and therefore the "distribution and extent of the capacity to decode is itself dynamic and practice-based" (Gebauer et al. 2012; Shove et al. 2012, p. 49). These processes of abstraction, reversal, lateral migration and cross-practice exchange are based in actors' adaptive capacities.

3.5 Materials and resources

Similar to Shove et al. (2012) we understand materials and resources as the means through which a certain practice can be enacted. Following Avelino and Rotmans (2009), resources are not only assets, materials or capital but also persons. Materials and resources are external to the individual person, but still the individual can dispose of different kinds of access to these capacities that can enable them to perform a certain practice. For example, a car, a bank account, an internet platform and a certain knowledge of traffic rules are necessary to be able to enact the practice of shared mobility.

3.5.1 Knowledge resources and infrastructures

As knowledge is an input and outcome of learning and competences, it needs to be made accessible through codification. Such codified knowledge can be found in books, programs, internet platforms and databanks, online and offline libraries, but also personal memories which are referred to as knowledge reservoirs in practice theory (Shove and Walker 2010; Shove et al. 2012). Shove et al. (2012) state that codified knowledge "can be contained for a time in virtual and actual reservoirs, depots and memories, persisting in this form between and beyond moments of practical enactment" (p. 52).

Following the line of thinking of social practice scholars, our hypothesis is that digital platforms can serve as instruments for creating "knowledge reservoirs" (Shove and Walker 2010) in order to store competence elements (cosmopolitan knowledge) over time and provide it to potentially interested new carriers or adopters of a social practice.

3.5.2 Social capital and networks as resources

Following Bourdieu's definition of social capital that revolves more around the individual, people obtain resources through their personal networks (Bourdieu 1986), i.e. more or less institutionalized relationships with shared values. Communities and networks have an important role for the carrying of social practices (Shove et al. 2012). Practices come into being by networks, through which its carriers are recruited – hence, social capital, social relationships and personal networks are important resources for engaging in social innovation. These networks are often formed by previous interests and affiliations, which connects them to the element of meaning. However, this resource is also deeply linked to the element of competences, as it is a capability itself to bring such networks to life in order to contribute to the success of social innovation initiatives in constructing and cultivating communities of practices (Shove et al, 2012).

Often communities of practices are cross-cutting (e.g. technical specialists) and not bound to organizational or institutional boundaries. So, from a social innovation perspective, networks can be seen as a way to gain resources: accommodation, subsidies, legitimacy and critical mass of memberships (Pel et al. 2020).

3.5.3 Material and technological infrastructures

Besides basic material infrastructures, such as rooms for meetings or paper to print communication materials, specific technologies are needed for enacting social practices (e.g. printers, cars, machines etc.).

Much has been written on how digital technologies influence the development of social movements and may enhance their capacities. Information and communication technologies (ICT) improve instantaneous communication and help to link actors at different levels, as well as giving new actors access to resources (Howaldt et al. 2014). It is assumed that technology reduces participation costs, promotes collective identity and creates a community for such social movements; technology seems to be particularly relevant for mobilizing individuals and resources (Garett 2006). According to Eckhardt et al. (2018), ICT are a strong catalyst in the development, strengthening and conserving of initiatives of social innovation (Eckhardt et al. 2018). Supporting the active participation of concerned individuals seems to be easier via digital platforms, e.g. through community building on such platforms (Cuypers et al. 2018).

In the literature on transformative social innovations it is also assumed that ICT enable digital niche networks of certain bundles of innovation and therefore can have a decisive influence on the emergence of trans-local networks of similar initiatives of social innovations. Technologically-enhanced

communication infrastructures are mediating the discourses formed by social innovations (Pel et al. 2020) and can enhance their outreach to potential new members or "carriers" of a social practice. We hypothesize that the ability to communicate new social practices via the internet and to coordinate via social media channels is an important capacity for the transfer of social innovations.

Social innovations are not independent on technology in most cases, and therefore need very specific skills and practical know-how, as Ziegler (2021) suggests. Here the capability approach points to the conversion differences between people. Taking the example of a bicycle, its utility for each individual can be different and depends on personal factors and the context (Ziegler 2021).

3.5.4 Financial and time resources

Although there is scant literature on the financial and time resources necessary to enact social innovations (Schupp et al. 2016) note the importance of these for enabling participation in the social innovation of home gardening. It is clear that without many forms of financial resources, social innovation initiatives could not be established. Often financial capital is needed to fund something specific (e.g. rent of a meeting room for a civil society movement) or it may be needed for everyday practices (e.g. travel costs incurred due to participation in a social innovation). Very good access to finances can mean that other capacities are less needed by an individual to achieve their goals (Avelino and Rotmans 2009).

Individuals' personal economic situations often strongly determine their time resources (i.e. nonincome generating time available for voluntary work). Although anecdotally it often seems as though individuals from higher-income households actively engage in social innovation activities, social innovation activities in low-income areas have strengthened in past years (e.g. urbans farms and community-supported agriculture initiatives in low-income urban areas in the USA). Yet it is also clear that if an individual has pressing socio-economic needs, it may be difficult to reflect on social practices and find the time and motivation to create and enact transformative social innovations.

3.6 Conditions, drivers and barriers for transformative capacities

The transformative capacities of individuals are limited by the power of the regime and established institutions (Avelino 2017). Further, what may be a resource for one person can be a constraint for another: following Giddens, one could say that "structure is both constraining and enabling" (Schuitmaker 2010; Giddens 1984)).

Cleary, when social innovations are enacted, actors have to use their capacities and work to change the elements' configuration within the constraints and conditions of the socio-technical and national system they inhabit. Beneficial framework conditions for the development of social innovations provide a good start for their activities (Howaldt and Schwarz 2010; Edmiston 2015). New framework conditions and trends at the landscape level (e.g. climate change) can initiate the development of new meanings, competences and materials for enacting new social practices. Values, for example, exist both at the micro-level of individuals and at the landscape level, as broadly shared social and individual norms, and may be changed over time. As a different landscape trend, digitalization can work as a game changer and driver for social innovations (Avelino et al. 2017).

Public policies can most strongly target the capacities "competencies" and "materials or resources". The lack of funding and limited access to finances for initiatives of a social innovation, which often are started or run by volunteers, is maybe the most obvious barrier for the capacity of accessing resources. In the empirical case analysis of the project SI-DRIVE an important finding was that the upscaling in three out of four initiatives suffered from concrete barriers. In over half of the cases a lack of funding was the main barrier, whereas in one in three initiatives it was the lack of qualified

personnel and knowledge gaps, while legal restrictions and insufficient political support were a third block of barriers (Howaldt et al. 2016). Constraints for social innovations are directly related to the resources at one's disposal (Howaldt et al. 2014). Often social innovations do not fit into established, technology-centered innovation paradigms, as they provide new solutions with a certain level of uncertainty about their impact. Further, in contrast to technical innovations, impact of social innovations is more difficult to measure. Therefore it is more difficult for social entrepreneurs or initiatives to get access to funding programs, credits or loans in order to further develop their innovations (Höll and Oldenburg 2012).

Public policies and investments, e.g. good education, health and social systems, lay the foundations for individuals' abilities to learn and have access to resources for the development of capacities that can be used in transformative social innovations. Furthermore, depending on their thematic openness and orientation, public research and innovation policies and funding programs might have an influence on the development of individual (and organizational) capacity for social innovation. More research is needed to identify how different policies and the state of the social system shape individual capacities.

The most interesting learning from the framework might be, that for performing a new sustainable practice, certain elements and capacities are needed. The availability of these can be supported by policies and new governance frameworks. As practices constitute certain elements, governance can support the "generation and circulation of elements of which variously sustainable practices are made." (Shove and Walker 2010). Shove and Walker (2010) criticize that most of the common governance approaches build on a modernist understanding of governance, where intervention from outside the system, a dichotomy between "us" and "them", and the dominance of one set of actors over others is decisive. A non-modernist governance approach would imply that actors recognize themselves as part of evolving structural patterns which they can modulate (Shove and Walker 2010).

This is only a sketch of what factors influence the development of transformative capacities for social innovation in general. When looking at particular social innovation initiatives, there might be other, more specific relevant drivers and barriers.

4 **Conclusions and outlook**

Adapting a practice-oriented approach of agency in transitions, we asked what capacities and capabilities are needed for changing established social practices, being able to adapt new social practices to the own context and to diffuse these in the wider system. This literature-based review of relevant capacities to describe the framework showed that theoretically there is a variety of different capacities needed for the generation and uptake of transformative social innovations. While it may be far from being complete, it is a first sketch to develop a capacities approach from the perspective of the individual. However, we also would like to stress the fact that these capacities don't have to be hold by only one person. Especially for transformative social innovations, groups with different individuals and their specific capacities can achieve a good distribution of the needed capacities and bring them into action by their collective power.

This study contributes to transitions literature by developing a conceptual framework of individual transformative capacities for social innovations. The aim is to build a bridge between the transitions and sociology literature to better understand individual capacities needed for transformative social innovations. We argue that social practice theory can bring an added value for conceptualizing individual capacities in transition processes as elements of meaning, competences and materials. We build a link to theories of power in transitions and argue that the relationship between social innovations and its necessary capacities is bidirectional and self-reinforcing. This is in line with the idea of the evolution of social capital and human capacities being strongly linked to social innovation and processes of social change (Howaldt and Kopp 2012; Kirwan et al. 2013). Specific capacities are not only needed to develop social innovations, but can also be created and nurtured by social innovations (Kirwan et al. 2013), especially when they are able to develop innovative and transformative power (Avelino 2017).

The conceptual framework shows that the different capacities involved and needed for transformative social innovation are deeply interconnected and interact with each other. Via the resource of social capital (particularly networks and trust), the elements of a social practice are linked with other practices so that new social practices can become enacted, imitated and diffused in wider societal groups. At the same time, capacities related to the element of meaning (e.g. motivations and values) are important drivers of creating trust between individuals and relating them to each other in larger groups (initiatives and networks), where they can cultivate and transfer a new social practice to wider contexts. Capacities of meaning, competence and material should be regarded as dynamic elements. However, it seems that capacities related to competences are the most dynamic element that can be developed further – with every new exercise of a social practice, one learns from experience. Depending on the competences, motivational and factual knowledge can be best used in order to mobilize resources. This seems to be the locus of innovative power, through which new resources can be created (although of course without the other elements, the enactment of innovative power is not possible). Capacities related to meaning, such as values and belief systems, are relatively stable - however they can be disturbed by shocks or events on the landscape level (e.g. natural catastrophes). Materials and resources are the capacity element that is the most dependent on framework conditions and simultaneously on the ability of an individual to access resources.

As a next step, an empirical, mixed methods case study on social innovations in the food system will follow. Operationalizing the conceptual framework in a questionnaire targeted towards individual citizens engaged in social innovation initiatives in the food system, we ask if and to what extent the capacities identified from the literature are present or would be needed, and if empirically other capacities can be found. Finally, we will bring together the literature-based and empirical parts to develop a more elaborated conceptual framework of capacities necessary for generating social innovations, with the aim of deriving recommendations for a more bottom-up style of governance for transitions.

5 **Publication bibliography**

- Avelino, F. (2017): Power in Sustainability Transitions: Analysing power and (dis)empowerment in transformative change towards sustainability. In *Env. Pol. Gov.* 27 (6), pp. 505–520. DOI: 10.1002/eet.1777.
- Avelino, F.; Wittmayer, J. M.; Pel, B.; Weaver, P.; Dumitru, A.; Haxeltine, A. et al. (2019): Transformative social innovation and (dis)empowerment. In *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 145, pp. 195–206. DOI: 10.1016/j.techfore.2017.05.002.
- Avelino, F.; Wittmayer, J.M., Kemp, R.; Haxeltine, A. (2017): Game-changers and transformative social innovation. In *Ecology and Society* 22 (4).
- Avelino, Flor; Rotmans, Jan (2009): Power in Transition: An Interdisciplinary Framework to Study Power in Relation to Structural Change. In *European Journal of Social Theory* 12 (4), pp. 543– 569. DOI: 10.1177/1368431009349830.
- Avelino, Flor; Wittmayer, Julia M. (2016): Shifting Power Relations in Sustainability Transitions: A Multi-actor Perspective. In *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning* 18 (5), pp. 628–649. DOI: 10.1080/1523908X.2015.1112259.
- Balundė, Audra; Poškus, Mykolas Simas; Jovarauskaitė, Lina; Sarid, Ariel; Farangitakis, Georgios; Knippels, Marie-Christine et al. (2020): Values, Beliefs and Environmental Citizenship. In Andreas Ch. Hadjichambis, Pedro Reis, Demetra Paraskeva-Hadjichambi, Jan Činčera, Jelle Boeve-de Pauw, Niklas Gericke, Marie-Christine Knippels (Eds.): Conceptualizing Environmental Citizenship for 21st Century Education, vol. 4. Cham: Springer International Publishing (Environmental Discourses in Science Education), pp. 83–96.
- Beers, P. J.; van Mierlo, B. (2017): Reflexivity and Learning in System Innovation Processes. In *Sociologia Ruralis* 57 (3), pp. 415–436, checked on 10/3/2021.
- Beers, Pieter J.; van Mierlo, Barbara; Hoes, Anne-Charlotte (2016): Toward an Integrative Perspective on Social Learning in System Innovation Initiatives. In *E&S* 21 (1). DOI: 10.5751/ES-08148-210133.
- Borrás, S. (2011): Policy learning and organizational capacities in innovation policies. In *Sci. and Pub. Pol.* 38 (9), pp. 725–734. DOI: 10.3152/030234211X13070021633323.
- Bourdieu, P. (1986): The forms of capital. In J. Richardson (Ed.): Handbook of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education. Westport: CT:Greenwood, pp. 241–258, checked on 10/2/2021.
- Castán Broto, V.; Trencher, G.; Iwaszuk, E.; Westman, L. (2019): Transformative capacity and local action for urban sustainability. In *Ambio* 48 (5), pp. 449–462. DOI: 10.1007/s13280-018-1086-z.
- Chilvers, Jason; Pallet, Helen; Hargreaves, Tom (2018): Ecologies of participation in socio-technical change: The case of energy system transitions. In *Energy Research & Social Science* (42), pp. 199–210.
- Collier, P.; Callero, P. (2005): Role Theory and Social Cognition: Learning to Think like a Recycler. In *Self and Identity* 4, pp. 45–58, checked on 10/2/2021.

- Cuypers, Mathias; Maylandt, Jens; Pelka, Bastian (2018): Die Bedeutung von Online-Plattformen für Community-Building und (digitale?) soziale Innovationen. In Hans-Werner Franz, Christoph Kaletka (Eds.): Soziale Innovationen lokal gestalten. Wiesbaden, Germany: Springer VS (Sozialwissenschaften und Berufspraxis).
- Disco, C.; van der Meulen, B. (1998): Getting new technologies together. Studies in making sociotechnical order. Berlin: DE GRUYTER (De Gruyter studies in organization, 82).
- Eckhardt, Jennifer; Kaletka, Christoph; Pelka, Bastian (2018): Observations on the role of digital social innovation for inclusion. In *TAD* 29 (4), pp. 183–198. DOI: 10.3233/TAD-170183.
- Edmiston, Daniel (2015): EU Public Policy, Social Innovation and Marginalisation: Reconciling ambitions with policy instruments. CRESSI Working Papers. No.18. Edited by CRESSI-Creating Economic Space for Social Innovation.
- Fischer, Lisa-Britt; Newig, Jens (2016): Importance of Actors and Agency in Sustainability Transitions: A Systematic Exploration of the Literature. In *Sustainability* 8 (5), p. 476. DOI: 10.3390/su8050476.
- Folke, C.; Carpenter, S.; Walker, B.; Scheffer, M.; Chapin, T.; Rockström, J. (2010): Resilience
 Thinking: Integrating Resilience, Adaptability and Transformability. In *Ecology and Society* 15 (4).
- Fougère, M.; Merilainen, E. (2021): Exposing three dark sides of social innovation throgh critical perspectives on resilience. In *Industry and Innovation* 28 (1), pp. 1–18.
- Frantzeskaki, N.; Loorbach, D.; Meadowcroft, J. (2012): Governing societal transitions to sustainability. In *Int. J. Sustainable Development* Vol.15 (1/2), pp. 19–36.
- Garett, K. R. (2006): Protest in an information society: a review of literature on social movements and new ICTs. In *Inf.Commun. Soc.* (9), pp. 202–224.
- Gebauer, Heiko; Worch, Hagen; Truffer, Bernhard (2012): Absorptive capacity, learning processes and combinative capabilities as determinants of strategic innovation. In *European Management Journal* 30 (1), pp. 57–73. DOI: 10.1016/j.emj.2011.10.004.
- Geels, F.; Schot, J. (2007): Typology of sociotechnical transition pathways. In *Research Policy* 36, pp. 399–417.
- Geels, Frank; Deuten, J. Jasper (2006): Local and global dynamics in technological development: a socio-cognitive perspective on knowledge flows and lessons from reinforced concrete. In *sci public policy* 33 (4), pp. 265–275. DOI: 10.3152/147154306781778984.
- Geels, Frank W. (2020): Micro-foundations of the multi-level perspective on socio-technical transitions: Developing a multi-dimensional model of agency through crossovers between social constructivism, evolutionary economics and neo-institutional theory. In *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 152, p. 119894. DOI: 10.1016/j.techfore.2019.119894.
- Giddens, A. (1984): The Constitution of Society. Outline of the Theory of Structuration: University of California Press. Available online at https://books.google.de/books?id=cV8xnSla0-IC&pg=PA1&hl=de&source=gbs_toc_r&cad=3#v=onepage&q&f=false.

Giddens, A.; Sutton, P. W. (2014): Essential concepts in sociology. Cambridge, UK: Polity Press.

Goyal, Nihit; Howlett, Michael (2020): Who learns what in sustainability transitions? In *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions* 34, pp. 311–321. DOI: 10.1016/j.eist.2019.09.002.

- Haxeltine, A.; Pel, B.; Dumitru, A.; Avelino, F.; Kemp, R.; Bauler, T. et al. (2017): Towards a TSI theory: a relational framework and 12 propositions. TRANSIT: EU SSH.2013.3.2-1 Grant agreement no: 613169. In *TRANSIT Working paper*.
- Hippel, E. von (2016): Free Innovation. Cambridge: MA:MIT.
- Höll, R.; Oldenburg, F. (2012): Wie überwinden wir Hürden für soziale Problemlöser? Sechs Ansätze zur Verbreitung von sozialer Innovation und Social Entrepreneurship in Deutschland. Edited by Ashoka. Available online at https://www.ashoka.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/ashoka_sozialeinnovation.pdf.
- Howaldt, J.; Butzin, A.; Domanski, D.; Kaletka, C. (2014): Theoretical approaches to social innovation. A critical literature review. Dortmund: Sozialforschungsstelle.: A deliverable of the project: 'Social Innovation: Driving Force of Social Change' (SI-DRIVE).
- Howaldt, J.; Kopp, R. (2012): Shaping Social Innovation by Social Research. In Hans-Werner Franz (Ed.): Challenge social innovation. Potentials for business, social entrepreneurship, welfare and civil society. Berlin: Springer, pp. 43–55.
- Howaldt, J.; Schröder, A.; Kaletka, C.; Rehfeld, D.; Terstriep, J. (2016): Comparative analysis (mapping 1). Mapping the world of social innovation: A global comparative analysisi across sectors and world regions. SI-DRIVE report D1.4. Edited by TU Dortmund.
- Howaldt, Jürgen; Schwarz, Michael (2017): Die Mechanismen transformativen Wandels erfassen: Plädoyer für ein praxistheoretisches Konzept sozialer Innovationen. In *GAIA* 26 (3), pp. 239-244.
- Howaldt, Jürgen; Schwarz, Michael(Hrsg.) (2010): Soziale Innovation im Fokus. Skizze eines gesellschaftstheoretisch inspirierten Forschungskonzepts. s.l.: transcript Verlag (Sozialtheorie).
- Ison, Ray; Watson, Drennan (2007): Illuminating the Possibilities for Social Learning in the Management of Scotland's Water. In *E&S* 12 (1). DOI: 10.5751/ES-02020-120121.
- Jacobi, N. von; Chiappero-Martinetti, E.; Ziegler, R.; van der Linden, M.; van Beers, C. (2019): Social innovation and agency. In A. Nicholls, R. Ziegler (Eds.): Creating Economic Space for Social Innovation: Oxford University Press, pp. 245–267.
- Kaletka, Christoph; Markmann, Mona; Pelka, Bastian (2016): Peeling the Onion. An Exploration of the Layers of Social Innovation Ecosystems. Modelling a context sensitive perspective on driving and hindering factors for social innovation. In EPSIR 1 (2). DOI: 10.31637/epsir.16-2.3.
- Kirwan, J.; Ilbery, B.; Maye, D.; Carey, J. (2013): Grassroots social innovations and food localisation: An investigation of the Local Food programme in England. In *Global Environmental Change* 23 (5), pp. 830–837. DOI: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.12.004.
- Kropp, Cordula (2018): Urban Food Movements and Their Transformative Capacities. In International Journal of Sociology of Agro&Food 24 (3), pp. 413–430.
- Loorbach, D.; Frantzeskaki, N.; Avelino, F. (2017): Sustainability transitions research: transforming science and practice for societal change. In *Annu.Rev.Environ.Resour.* 1 (42).
- Martiskainen, M. (2017): The role of community leadership in the development of grassroots innovations. In *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions* (22), pp. 78–89, checked on 3/30/2021.

- McCright, A. M. (2016): Anti-Reflexivity and Climate Change Skepticism in the US General Public. In *Human Ecology Review*, 77–107.
- Mihci, Hakan (2020): Is measuring social innovation a mission impossible? In *Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research* 33 (3), pp. 337–367. DOI: 10.1080/13511610.2019.1705149.
- Moore, M.; Olsson, P.; Nilsson, W.; Rose, L.; Westley, F. Michele-Lee Moore; Per Olsson et al. (2018): Navigating emergence and system reflexivity as key transformative capacities. In *Ecology and Society* 23 (2), checked on 3/25/2021.
- Nussbaum, M. (2000): Women and Human Development: The Capabilities Approach.: Cambridge University Press.
- Pahl-Wostl, C. (2006): The Importance of Social Learning in Restoring the Multifunctionality of Rivers and Floodplains. In *Ecology and Society* 11 (1).
- Pel, B.; Haxeltine, A.; Avelino, F.; Dumitru, A.; Kemp, R.; Bauler, T. et al. (2020): Towards a theory of transformative social innovation: A relational framework and 12 propositions. In *Research Policy* 49 (8), p. 104080. DOI: 10.1016/j.respol.2020.104080.
- Pel, Bonno; Kemp, René (2020): Between innovation and restoration; towards a criticalhistoricizing understanding of social innovation niches. In *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management* 32 (10), pp. 1182–1194. DOI: 10.1080/09537325.2020.1750588.
- Radadjieva, M.; Butzin, A. (2020): Emergence and diffusion of social innovation through practice fields. In *European Planning Studies* 28, pp. 925–940.
- Reckwitz, Andreas (2002): Toward a Theory of Social Practices. In *European Journal of Social Theory* 5 (2), pp. 243–263. DOI: 10.1177/13684310222225432.
- Rossi, A. (2017): Beyond Food Provisioning: The Transformative Potential of Grassroots Innovation around Food. In *Agriculture* 7 (6), pp. 1–21, checked on 10/2/2021.
- Schuitmaker, T. J. (2010): Persistent problems in the Dutch healthcare system: an instrument for analysing system deficits. In J. E.W. Broerse, J.F.G. Bunders (Eds.): Transitions in Health Systems. Dealing with persistent problems. Amsterdam: VU University Press, pp. 19–41.
- Schupp, Justin L.; Som Castellano, Rebecca L.; Sharp, Jeff S.; Bean, Molly (2016): Exploring barriers to home gardening in Ohio households. In *Local Environment* 21 (6), pp. 752–767. DOI: 10.1080/13549839.2015.1017807.
- Sen, A. (1999): Development as Freedom: Oxford University Press.
- Seyfang, G.; Smith, A. (2007): Grassroots innovation for sustainable development: Towards a new research and policy agenda. In *Environmental Poltics* 16 (4), pp. 584–603.
- Shove, E.; Pantzar, M.; Watson, M. (2012): The dynamics of social practice. Everyday life and how it changes: Sage.
- Shove, Elizabeth; Walker, Gordon (2010): Governing transitions in the sustainability of everyday life. In *Research Policy* 39 (4), pp. 471–476. DOI: 10.1016/j.respol.2010.01.019.
- Smith, A.; Raven, R. (2012): What is protective space? Reconsidering niches in transitions to sustainability. In *Research Policy* 41 (6), pp. 1025–1036.
- Smith, Adrian (2012): Civil Society in Sustainable Energy Transitions. In G. Verbong, D.Loorbach (Eds.): Governing the Energy Transition: reality, illusion, or necessity. New York: Routledge.

- Smith, Adrian; Stirling, Andy; Berkhout, Frans (2005): The governance of sustainable sociotechnical transitions. In *Research Policy* 34 (10), pp. 1491–1510. DOI: 10.1016/j.respol.2005.07.005.
- Strasser, Tim; Kraker, Joop de; Kemp, René (2019): Developing the Transformative Capacity of Social Innovation through Learning: A Conceptual Framework and Research Agenda for the Roles of Network Leadership. In *Sustainability* 11 (5), p. 1304. DOI: 10.3390/su11051304.
- Strasser, Tim; Kraker, Joop de; Kemp, René (2020): Three Dimensions of Transformative Impact and Capacity: A Conceptual Framework Applied in Social Innovation Practice. In *Sustainability* 12 (11), p. 4742. DOI: 10.3390/su12114742.
- van Mierlo, Barbara; Beers, Pieter J. (2020): Understanding and governing learning in sustainability transitions: A review. In *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions* 34, pp. 255–269. DOI: 10.1016/j.eist.2018.08.002.
- van Mierlo, Barbara; Halbe, Johannes; Beers, Pieter J.; Scholz, Geeske; Vinke-de Kruijf, Joanne (2020): Learning about learning in sustainability transitions. In *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions* 34, pp. 251–254. DOI: 10.1016/j.eist.2019.11.001.
- van Poeck, K.; Östman, L. (2021): Learning to find a way out of non-sustainable systems. In *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions* (39), pp. 155–172, checked on 10/2/2021.
- van Poeck, K.; Östman, L.; Block, T. (2020): Opening up the black box of learning-by-doing in sustainability transitions. Environmental. In *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions* 34, pp. 289–310.
- Walker, Brian; Holling, C. S.; Carpenter, Stephen R.; Kinzig, Ann P. (2004): Resilience, Adaptability and Transformability in Social-ecological Systems. In *E&S* 9 (2). DOI: 10.5751/ES-00650-090205.
- Westley, F.; Antadze, N.; Riddell, D. J.; Robinson, K.; Geobey, S. (2014): Five configurations for scaling up social innovation: Case examples of nonprofit organizations from Canada. In *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science* 50 (3), pp. 234–260.
- Wolfram, M. (2016): Conceptualizing urban transformative capacity: a framework for research and policy. In *Cities* (51), pp. 121–130.
- Wolfram, M.; Borgström, S.; Farrelly, M. (2019): Urban transformative capacity: From concept to practice. In *Ambio* (48), pp. 437–448, checked on 3/25/2021.
- Yasmin, T.; Farrelly, M.; Rogers, B. C. (2020): Adaptive governance: a catalyst for advancing sustainable urban transformation in the global South. In *International Journal of Water Resources Development* (36), pp. 818–838, checked on 3/30/2021.
- Ziegler, R. (2021): Capabilities approach and social innovation. In J. Howaldt, C. Kaletka, A. Schröder (Eds.): A Research Agenda for Social Innovation: Egar Research Agenda, pp. 117–131.